FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/3/2025 11:44 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1039221

<u>Supreme Court No. (to be set)</u> <u>Court of Appeals No. 39591-0-III (Consolidated)</u>

> IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## In re the Dependency of: X.M.J., A minor child

Yakima County Superior Court

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#

#### Introduction and Summary of Argument

This case provides the Supreme Court another opportunity to address the mistreatment inflicted on Native families<sup>1</sup> by Washington's Department of Children, Youth, and Families (DCYF). The Department's multiple violations of the Indian Child Welfare Act<sup>2</sup> deprived this Native family of precious time with three-year-old X.T.J. during the weeks leading up to his death from a heart attack.

Instead of recognizing the violations, the trial court contributed to the problem by blaming the mother for the Department's failures. The court further traumatized the family by separating the grieving mother from her surviving daughter just days after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> When this brief uses the terms "Indian family" and "Indian children", the purpose is to mirror the language of statutes and cases. No disrespect is intended.
<sup>2</sup> ICWA and WICWA.

X.T.J.'s death. The court also unlawfully ordered the mother to submit to home intrusions by Department social workers.

Although dependency proceedings have been dismissed, the Supreme Court should grant review to address issues of continuing and substantial public interest.

#### **Decision Below and Issues Presented**

Petitioner D.B.-K., the mother, asks the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals' Ruling Denying Review (entered 10/31/23), Order Granting Motion to Modify (in part) (entered 2/7/24), and Unpublished Opinion (entered 1/30/25).<sup>3</sup> This case presents two issues:

1. Did the Department and the trial court violate multiple provisions of ICWA and WICWA?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Decisions attached.

2. Did the trial court err by unlawfully requiring this Native family to submit to government intrusions into their home?

#### **Statement of the Case**

- A. The court signed a pickup order without considering standards applicable to Native children.
  - D.B.-K. and her daughter X.M.J. are members of

the Cowlitz Indian Tribe. CP 14; RP (2/7/23) 14. D.B.-

K.'s son, X.T.J., was a member as well.<sup>4</sup> CP 14; RP

(2/7/23) 14. In January of 2023, the mother left her

children in the care of relatives while she went to run

errands.<sup>5</sup> CP 2-4, 14-15; RP (2/9/23) 84-86. While out of

the house, she received a call from the children's

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  X.T.J. passed away while this case was pending. CP 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals erroneously conflated the children's maternal and paternal grandmothers and incorrectly suggested that the family lived in the home where the exposure occurred. Opinion, p. 2.

grandmother, who told her that her son, X.T.J., "was acting abnormal." CP 3.

The mother returned and rushed her son to the hospital. CP 2-4; RP (2/9/23) 84-86, 157. There, she learned that the child had ingested drugs while in the grandmother's care. CP 2-4; RP (2/9/23) 84-86, 157. Hospital staff described the mother as appropriate and loving. CP 2-4; RP (2/9/23) 154, 165-166, 214. She was cooperative, and explained what she knew. RP (2/9/23) 165-166. Despite this, both children were placed into protective custody. CP 2-4, 15; RP (2/9/23) 84-86; 146.

When the mother declined to sign a Voluntary Placement Agreement, DCYF filed a dependency petition and obtained a pickup order. CP 1, 11-12. The order did not mention that the mother and children were enrolled members of the Cowlitz Tribe, and the court did not apply the standards for removal of Indian children. CP 11-12.

The Tribe intervened and appeared at the shelter care hearing, which commenced on February 7<sup>th</sup>, more than two weeks after removal. RP (2/7/23) 5; RP (2/9/23) 48. The court did not take any testimony on the first day of the hearing. RP (2/7/23) 1-45.

Instead, Juvenile Court Commissioner Robert Porter began the hearing by discussing the pickup order he had signed the week before. RP (2/7/23) 5-10. He said that he had no "duty to make specific findings on the order," but that he was "making them on the record right now." RP (2/7/23) 10.

He told the parties that there was "reasonable cause to believe... that active efforts had been made." RP (2/7/23) 9. He summarized these efforts as follows:

[T]here were two levels of services offered. The voluntary placement agreement and the safety

plan... [T]he Department made contact with mother, with mother's family, with father's family. And made several collateral contacts with police, hospital... and extended family... [A]t the end of the petition that there were some services that were requested for mom, but it did not tell me when those services were requested. RP (2/7/23) 8-9.

Commissioner Porter also noted that he "believed these children were in imminent harm if they were not retrieved." RP (2/7/23) 5. He repeated the phrase "imminent harm" several times. RP (2/7/23) 6, 7, 9. When prompted by the Tribe's attorney, the commissioner said he had "made a finding, although it's not in the order that the removal was necessary to prevent imminent physical damage to the child." RP (2/7/23) 10-11.

The hearing concluded without any testimony, and another hearing was scheduled for two days later. RP (2/7/23) 44. The court did not enter an interim order maintaining the children in care. B. The court returned the children after hearing testimony at shelter care.

When testimony commenced on February 9<sup>th</sup>, the social worker told the court that the mother had asked for help with (1) housing, (2) childcare, and (3) transportation. RP (2/9/23) 87, 107-108.

The social worker admitted that she did not ever help the mother find housing. RP (2/9/23) 117-118. Instead, the Department gave the mother's sister (who was taking care of the children) a one-night hotel voucher on the day the children were removed from the mother's care. RP (2/9/23) 120.

The social worker texted the mother screenshots of information regarding childcare providers. RP (2/9/23) 108-109. She "did not have the opportunity to" meet with the mother to help her call the providers. RP (2/9/23) 108-109. The social worker later learned (through the mother's attorney) that the screenshots were not accessible and not helpful to the mother. RP (2/9/23) 109-110.

The mother's counsel asked the social worker multiple times to send the daycare information via email. RP (2/9/23) 110. The social worker later claimed she'd provided information "through the AAG." RP (2/9/23) 111. On the day before requesting a pickup order, she emailed the information to the mother's attorney. RP (2/9/23) 111-112.

The social worker did not offer assistance when the mother asked for help repairing her car. RP (2/9/23) 115. Instead, the social worker "sent a referral for a bus pass." RP (2/9/23) 90.

Although the mother responded when the social worker tried to reach her, the Department painted her as resistant. RP (2/9/23) 102. The social worker took the refusal to sign a safety plan as "overtly rejecting or refusing... intervention."<sup>6</sup> RP (2/9/23) 102. The social worker also suggested the mother was hiding the children after other caseworkers were unable to conduct an after-hours weekend welfare check while the children were in relative care. RP (2/9/23) 102. This was shortly after the mother's attorney had made clear that contact with the mother should occur through counsel.<sup>7</sup> RP (2/9/23) 102, 124-125.

After the social worker testified, Commissioner Porter concluded that there was no "imminent risk," and so "out of home placement is no longer justified... I can no longer authorize the removal of the children."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The mother had declined to sign on the advice of counsel, because the Department had failed to provide discovery about the case. RP (2/7/23) 21-22, 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Even though the mother was represented by counsel, the social worker asked the mother to sign a safety plan without consulting her attorney. CP 39; RP (2/9/23) 111, 122, 126.

RP (2/9/23) 231, 240-241. The court returned the children to their mother.<sup>8</sup> RP (2/9/23) 231-241.

C. Over objection, the court found that the Department had made active efforts.

More than a month after the initial removal, the court entered an order placing the children with their mother. Over objection, Commissioner Porter found that the Department had made active efforts to prevent the breakup of this Native family. CP 90; RP (2/10/23) 265-266, 273; RP (2/24/23) 290, 298-299. This finding did not mention any specific actions taken. CP 90-91. The commissioner blamed a lack of evidence on the mother for "choosing to truncate the shelter care trial." CP 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Apart from the pickup order, no orders on placement were entered until February 24— more than a month after the initial removal. CP 88.

The court concluded its active efforts finding by saying "the mother thwarted much of the efforts of the social worker to prevent the child's removal by refusing to engage with the social worker." CP 91. The result, according to the commissioner, "was a lack of services accepted, but it was not due to a lack of effort by the Department." CP 91.

The mother and the Tribe sought discretionary review. CP 101, 103. The case was later consolidated with review of a later decision.

D. The court *sua sponte* removed X.M.J. without notice while the family was grieving X.T.J.'s death from a heart attack.

Tragedy struck on March 23, while the case was still in pretrial status. The family was living with the mother's sister in a hotel.<sup>9</sup> CP 122; RP (3/30/23) 53.

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  A fire had destroyed the family home months earlier. RP (2/9/23) 55; RP (2/10/23) 265.

• ther family members were also present in the hotel room. CP 122; RP (4/4/23) 78-79. Shortly after laying her son down for a nap, the mother noticed that X.T.J. had turned blue. CP 122; RP (3/30/23) 9; RP (4/4/23) 67, 68-69. She called 911, and her son was rushed to the local hospital, where it was determined he'd suffered a heart attack. CP 121-122, 124-126; RP (3/30/23) 9, 43-50; RP (4/4/23) 68-71, 77-79, 82. He died at Children's Hospital on March 27<sup>th</sup>, 2023. CP 122.

•n March 30<sup>th</sup>, the parties appeared in court to address DCYF's request for an order directing the mother to allow government social workers into her home. CP 121-122; RP (3/30/23) 3. At the hearing, the social worker asked the court either to "order DCYF the ability [sic] to complete an assessment of safety [or] place the children [sic] in out-of-home care." RP (3/30/23) 12. The mother (and the Tribe) asked the court to reset the hearing. RP (3/30/23) 5, 13, 18-19. The child's guardian *ad litem* agreed with the request: "I don't know that there is anything urgent at this point that we couldn't set it over." RP (3/30/23) 16. She thought it would be in the mother's best interest to "reset this so she can get through the funeral and take care of herself and [her daughter]." RP (3/30/23) 17.

However, upon learning of X.T.J.'s death, the court *sua sponte* ordered X.M.J. removed from her mother's care.<sup>10</sup> CP 124-126.; RP (3/30/23) 23-24. The order was based on a misleading declaration authored by the social worker, in which she gave the impression that X.T.J. had died from choking while unsupervised

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The mother, who was grieving her son, was not present. RP (3/30/23) 9, 14.

rather than from a heart attack. CP 121-122, 124-126; RP (3/30/23) 43-50; RP (4/4/23) 69-71, 77-79, 82.

The commissioner refused to hear argument prior to removal. RP (3/30/23) 27. He did not return X.M.J. until April 4<sup>th</sup>. RP (4/4/23) 80. At that point, the Department admitted that X.T.J. had died of a heart attack, and that the mother had done nothing wrong. RP (4/4/23) 66-70, 80.

E. After returning X.M.J. to her family, the court ordered the mother to submit to health and safety checks.

Although the case remained in pretrial status, the court directed the mother to submit to a "health & safety check" every 30 days. CP 129. Under the Court's April 10<sup>th</sup> order, these were to be done "in the home or at day care." CP 129. The Department was required to pre-arrange the presence of either the Tribe's social worker or the mother's social worker (contracted through the ●ffice of Public Defense). CP 129.

F. Appellate proceedings were dismissed as moot after the trial court dismissed the dependency.

The mother and the Tribe sought discretionary review; the case was consolidated with the earlier matter. CP 133. While review was pending, the trial court dismissed dependency proceedings. CP 130-131. Court of Appeals Commissioner Hailey Landrus subsequently denied review of the consolidated cases on mootness grounds. Ruling entered 10/31/23.

The mother filed a Motion to Modify, arguing that the case presented issues of continuing and substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals granted the motion "only as to the April 10, 2023 order." Order entered 2/7/24. Nearly a year later, the court issued an unpublished opinion, dismissing the case as moot. Opinion, pp. 1, 6. The mother seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decisions.

#### Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

# I. The court's removal orders violated ICWA and WICWA.

An order "[s]eparating a child from their family,

even for an hour, can cause great trauma." In re

J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d 837, 840, 514 P.3d 186 (2022).

Here, the Department and the court traumatized this

Native family on multiple occasions, in violation of

ICWA and WICWA.

A. ICWA and WICWA protect against unlawful foster care placements of Native children.

This court has discussed at length the "widespread abusive practice of removing Native children from their families and destroying Native communities." *Id.* This abusive practice is the primary

reason that ICWA and WICWA were enacted. Id.

The protections against improper removal apply to "child custody proceedings," which include "foster care placements." RCW 13.38.040(3). A foster care placement is "any action removing an Indian child from [a parent]... for temporary placement in a foster home...where the parent or Indian custodian cannot have the child returned upon demand." RCW 13.38.040(3).

The federal Act exempts "emergency proceedings" from this definition; however, WICWA includes no such exemption. See 25 C.F.R. §23.2; RCW 13.38.040(3); see also WAC 110-110-0010 et seq. Under the state statute's plain language, an order directing removal of an Indian child for placement in shelter care is a "foster care placement." RCW 13.38.040(3). Because Washington "provides a higher standard of protection to the rights of the parent," WICWA's definition of "foster care placement" applies. 25 U.S.C. §1921.

When the Department seeks to effect a foster care placement, it must "satisfy the court that active efforts have been made... to prevent the breakup of the Indian family and that these efforts have proved unsuccessful." RCW 13.38.130(1); 25 U.S.C. §1912(d).

The court must document the Department's active efforts "in detail in the record." 25 C.F.R. §23.120. Citing federal guidelines, the Supreme Court has outlined the minimum information that should be included in the record. *Matter of Dependency of G.J.A.*, 197 Wn.2d 868, 893, 489 P.3d 631 (2021) (citing BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS, U.S. Dep't Of Interior, Guidelines for Implementing the Indian Child Welfare Act, p. 44 (2016)).<sup>11</sup>

Removal is not permitted absent a determination by the court "that the continued custody of the child by the parent... is likely to result in serious emotional or physical damage to the child." RCW 13.38.130(2). The determination must be made by clear and convincing evidence, supported by the testimony of a Qualified Expert Witness. RCW 13.38.130(2).

These protections reduce the risk that Native children will suffer the "great trauma" of separation from their families, "even for an hour." *J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 840. Here, neither the Department nor the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Available at

https://www.bia.gov/sites/default/files/dup/assets/bia/ois/ pdf/idc2-056831.pdf (accessed 2/26/25).

court followed the obligations imposed by ICWA and WICWA.

B. The court's pickup order violated WICWA.

In most cases, the order producing the "great trauma"<sup>12</sup> of family separation will be an *ex parte* order to take the child into custody (a "pickup order.") Because pickup orders are "foster care placements" under WICWA, Native children can't be taken from their families unless the Act's strict standards for removal are met.<sup>13</sup>

Here, the court's pickup order violated WICWA. It did not include a finding that the Department had made active efforts to prevent removal, and the court did not document the Department's active efforts in

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> If a pickup order involves an emergency proceeding, it is not a foster care placement under the federal Act. *See* 25 C.F.R. §23.2.

detail in the record.<sup>14</sup> CP 11-12. Furthermore, the record shows that DCYF did little or nothing when the mother requested help with housing, childcare, and transportation. RP (2/9/23) 86-87, 107-110.

The court did not find, by clear and convincing evidence, that the children were at risk of serious emotional or physical damage. CP 11-12. Nor did the court did hear from a Qualified Expert Witness.<sup>15</sup> CP 11-12. The pickup order was unlawful.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The court's February 24<sup>th</sup> findings do not include facts showing active efforts. CP 90-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Commissioner Porter later claimed that he had no "duty to make specific findings on the order," but that he was "making them on the record right now." RP (2/7/23) 10. Even assuming this is permissible, neither the court's written findings nor its supplemental oral findings satisfy the requirements of WICWA. CP 11-12, 90-91; RP (2/7/23) 10-43.

C. The March 30<sup>th</sup> removal order violated ICWA and WICWA.

DCYF did not make active efforts. At no point did DCYF make active efforts to help this Native family. As the social worker's own declaration shows, the Department's primary "effort" involved complaining about the lack of "access" to the children.<sup>16</sup> CP 121-122. The only assistance mentioned in the social worker's declaration is "a referral... [for] Childcare." CP 122.

But active efforts require far more than "simply providing referrals." RCW 13.38.040(1)(a)(ii). Furthermore, when the social worker learned that "the mother ha[d] not activated this referral," she did not follow up to understand why. CP 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The record shows that government social workers "accessed" the child and other family members multiple times. CP 122; RP (3/30/23) 9-10, 17-18.

The social worker insisted that the mother should have done more to engage. CP 121-122. But ICWA requires the *Department* to "actively engage the parent." *G.J.A.*, 197 Wn.2d at 888. A parent "ha[s] no burden to engage the Department." *Id.*, at 899. The caseworker "must try to engage the parent" even if the parent "fails to engage satisfactorily." *Matter of D.J.S.*, 12 Wn.App.2d 1, 33, 456 P.3d 820 (2020), overruled in *part on other grounds by G.J.A.* 

Furthermore, social workers must be "cognizant of Indian families' mistrust of government actors due to centuries of abuse." *G.J.A.*, 197 Wn.2d at 905. Because "Native communities have endured a legacy of trauma at the hands of State actors... Native families are much more likely to harbor a unique distrust of government workers." *Id.* It is wholly understandable that "Native families often do not trust child welfare workers." *Id.,* at 905-906.

Here, the social worker did nothing to address this legacy. Instead, her actions exacerbated the problem. Rather than trying to help this Native family, she demanded additional "access." CP 121-122. This is not an active effort.

The court's "active efforts" finding. The court's March 30<sup>th</sup> "active efforts" finding consisted primarily of boilerplate language from the statute. CP 125. Such "boilerplate language... cannot meet the standard of a finding of active efforts." *Id.*, at 909.

In addition, the court blamed the mother for the Department's lack of active efforts: "the mother thwarted much of the efforts... by refusing to engage with the social worker." CP 91. This conflicts with the Supreme Court's admonition that a parent "ha[s] no burden to engage the Department." *Id.*, at 899.

Improper standard for removal. The March 30<sup>th</sup> removal order was a "foster care placement," subject to the strict standard outlined in RCW 13.38.130(2). The court did not apply this standard.

Instead, the court claimed a risk of "imminent physical damage or harm." CP 125. This language stems from RCW 13.38.140, which does not apply (as outlined below).

The court also quoted from the improper removal statute, claiming that the child was at risk of "substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger, under RCW 13.38.160." CP 125. Having found no improper removal,<sup>17</sup> the court should not have used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In fact, the Native child remained in her mother's care up until the hearing; she had not been removed at all.

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