FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/2/2025 4:25 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 1039221

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Dependency of X.T.J. and X.M.J.,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

RACHEL BREHM KING Assistant Attorney General WSBA #42247 3501 Colby Avenue, Suite 200 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 257-2170 OID #91145

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

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that this case does not present a good vehicle for an advisory opinion on the legal question because of the atypical fact pattern, the intervening

⁵ This slip opinion is in the Petition for Review Appendix at page 20-25.

legislative amendments to the shelter care statute, and the fact that another opportunity will likely arise to consider this question under current law. This Court should decline review.

A. This Court Should Dismiss the Untimely Petition as Moot

As argued in DCYF's motion to strike, D.B.-K.'s ICWA and WICWA challenges are untimely and should be stricken. The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that the issues raised by D.B.-K. are moot and do not present issues of continuing and substantial public interest warranting review. This Court should decline review.

A case is moot when the appellate court can no longer provide effective relief. *In re Dependency of L.C.S.*, 200 Wn.2d 91, 98, 514 P.3d 644 (2022). Generally, appellate courts will not review a moot case. *Id.* at 99. But courts may review a moot case if the contested issue is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest. *Id.* In deciding whether a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, this Court considers the following factors: whether the issue is of public or private

nature, whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance, and whether the issue is likely to reoccur. *Id.* The court may also consider the adverseness of the parties, the quality of the advocacy, and the likelihood that the issue will escape review. *Id.*

It is undisputed that all issues raised in D.B.-K.'s Petition for Review are moot because the court dismissed the dependency petition. D.B.-K.'s contentions regarding ICWA and WICWA also do not present issues of continuing and substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected review of these issues over a year ago for this very reason. Petition for Review Appendix at 19. This Court has already provided ample guidance and addressed the appropriate standard of removal under ICWA and WICWA, whether the Department must meet certain ICWA and WICWA requirements where it is impossible to do so, and the appropriate remedy when an Indian child is improperly removed at shelter care. See In re Dependency of

J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d 837, 514 P.3d 186 (2022). Thus, this case would not provide future guidance to public officers.

As will be further detailed below, D.B.-K.'s challenge to the court's authority to order health and safety visits also fails to meet the exception to mootness. After accepting review, the Court of Appeals concluded that this case presented an atypical fact pattern and is not an appropriate vehicle to provide guidance because, due to an intervening statutory change, an opinion on the merits would necessarily address laws or regulations that are no longer in effect. Slip Op. at 5. The Court of Appeals is correct, and any opinion under the prior statutory scheme would provide little guidance to future courts.

This Court should deny review.

B. This Court Need Not Accept Review to Reaffirm that Removal Orders Must Comply with ICWA and WICWA

Should this Court evaluate D.B.-K.'s untimely, moot challenges, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.5(b). To obtain review under that rule, D.B.-K. must demonstrate that

the Court of Appeals committed obvious or probable error in declining review due to mootness and must establish that the error renders further proceedings useless or substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act. Her request does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.5(b)(1) or (2).6

1. This Court already resolved the correct standards for emergency removals in *J.M.W.*

This Court has already resolved the legal standards for the emergency removal of a Native child. Where ICWA and WICWA apply, the emergency removal standard requires the juvenile court to make a specific factual finding—that removal was necessary to prevent imminent physical damage or harm. *See* RCW 13.38.030(1)(a)(i); RCW 13.38.140; *J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 840; *In re Dependency of A.W.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 76, 93, 519 P.3d 262 (2022). Additionally, where (like here) DCYF had prior

⁶ D.B.-K. argues that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4; however, that rule is inapplicable where the Court of Appeals denied review of an interlocutory order. Petition at 48; *see* RAP 13.3(a)(2).

contact with the family and reason to believe the child was at risk of physical damage or harm, WICWA requires that DCYF prove it made active efforts to prevent the breakup of the family. RCW 13.38.030(1)(a)(i); RCW 13.38.140; *J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 848; *A.W.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 94.

D.B.-K. argues the court should have applied the involuntary foster care placement standard in RCW 13.38.130(2) to the February 3 and March 30 pick-up orders, rather than relying on the emergency removal standards under 25 U.S.C. § 1922, 25 C.F.R. § 23.113(b)(1), and RCW 13.38.140(1). Petition at 21, 25. This would require testimony of a qualified expert witness (QEW) that the "continued custody of the child by the parent or Indian custodian is likely to result in serious emotional or physical damage to the child." RCW 13.38.130(2); Petition at 21, 25-26.

This issue is resolved by *J.M.W.* 199 Wn.2d at 848 n.4; *see also A.W.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 93. First, this Court recognized that DCYF may be called upon to place children in its custody under

emergency circumstances, such as a pickup order, where prior active efforts are not required. See J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d at 847-58. Second, although an initial shelter care order is a foster care placement, this Court acknowledged in J.M.W. that WICWA does not impose certain procedural requirements at an initial shelter care hearing where it is impossible to comply with such requirements. See J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d at 848 n.4. Evidence supporting a juvenile court's finding that the parents' continued custody is likely to result in serious emotional or physical damage to the child must include **QEW** testimony. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(e); RCW 13.38.130(2). But WICWA requires that the Department provide at least 20 days' notice to the child's Tribe of the need to provide QEW testimony at the hearing. RCW 13.38.130(4)(a). It was impossible to provide the Tribe 20 days' notice of the need to provide a QEW, and therefore impossible to secure QEW testimony prior to the February 3 pick-up order.

Further, it would be nonsensical to require QEW testimony when not enough time has elapsed to give a child's Tribe its statutorily-required legal notice and therefore allow the Tribe the opportunity to identify a QEW. Requiring otherwise would disrespect Tribes' sovereignty, as well as ICWA and WICWA's statutory preference that a QEW be familiar with the social and cultural standards of the child's Tribe. See RCW 13.38.130(4)(b)(i); Bureau of Indian Affairs, Guidelines for *Implementing* the Indian Child Welfare Act (Guidelines), 54 (2016),available at at: https://www.bia.gov/sites/bia.gov/files/assets/bia/ois/pdf/idc2-056831.pdf.

Regarding the February 3 pick-up order, DCYF concedes that the trial court failed to apply the correct emergency removal standard required by ICWA and WICWA when it did not find that X.M.J.'s removal was necessary to prevent imminent physical damage or harm. CP 11-13. But the issue is moot and additional guidance on this issue is not required given the

numerous recent decisions regarding these issues. *J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 844; *A.W.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 93.

Like the February 3 pick-up order, the March 30 pick-up order occurred on an emergency basis. The court applied the emergency removal standard in finding that the removal was necessary to prevent imminent physical damage or harm. CP 125. And for the same reasons as the February 3 order, that is the correct standard. Although the dependency petition had been pending for some time when the court decided to remove X.M.J., no party brought a motion for removal and DCYF had no notice that it would need to provide a QEW to support such a removal. ICWA and WICWA have never been interpreted to provide an absolute bar to courts acting to ensure the safety of children; in fact, "nothing shall be construed to prevent the department or law enforcement from the emergency removal of an Indian child [. . .] to prevent imminent physical damage or harm to the child." RCW 13.38.140. This is consistent with this Court's determination in J.M.W. as well as the need to protect the "safety,

well-being, development, and stability of the Indian child." *See J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 848 n.4; RCW 13.38.040(2)(a).

D.B.-K. also contends that the emergency removal statute permits the State to exert jurisdiction only where a tribe would otherwise have exclusive jurisdiction. Petition at 26-27. This is simply wrong following this Court's decision in *J.M.W.*, which applies RCW 13.38.140 to the removal of a child not under the exclusive jurisdiction of a tribe. *J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 850.

This Court in *J.M.W.* already gave adequate guidance on when a court is obligated to meet the full foster care placement standard under RCW 13.38.130(2). Because it was impossible to comply with the procedural requirements of RCW 13.38.130(2) here, WICWA did not require either QEW testimony or a finding that the parents' continued custody was likely to result in serious emotional or physical damage in either the February 3 or March 30 pick-up order. Additional guidance is not necessary here.

2. This Court has already made clear that a checkbox is not sufficient for an active efforts finding

"Active efforts must be documented in detail in the record." 25 C.F.R. § 23.120(b); *See in re Dependency of G.J.A.*, 197 Wn.2d 868, 902, 489 P.3d 631 (2021) *see also Guidelines* at 44 ("The active-efforts requirement is a key protection provided by ICWA, and it is important that compliance with the requirement is documented in the court record."). It is DCYF's responsibility to clearly document its actions in the record to enable the court to reach an informed conclusion about DCYF's provision of active efforts. *G.J.A.*, 197 Wn. 2d at 893.

The Court of Appeals Commissioner determined that the court probably erred in ordering the March 30 removal because the record did not document DCYF's active efforts in detail. Commissioner Ruling at 17. DCYF acknowledges that it provided limited information to the court regarding the efforts it made, and the court did not make a clear record regarding the efforts made when it removed X.M.J. CP 121-22, 125.

But this Court should not accept review to restate that active efforts must be documented in detail in the record, which is undisputed and well addressed by this Court in G.J.A. This Court should also not accept review to evaluate whether there was sufficient evidence for the court to find active efforts on this record. See Petition at 22-24. To do so would be a review only of the court's application of existing law to the facts of this case, which would not be helpful to judicial officers beyond this Court's prior opinions on active efforts. See J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d at 849; G.J.A., 197 Wn.2d at 887; See In re Dependency of A.L.K., 196 Wn.2d 697, 478 P.3d 63 (2020). This Court has already affirmed that ICWA requires DCYF to actively engage the parent. Petition at 23; G.J.A., 197 Wn.2d at 888. This Court has also declared that workers must be cognizant of mistrust of government actors. Petition at 23-24; G.J.A., 197 Wn.2d at 905. Finally, this Court has made clear that a parent's actions cannot excuse DCYF's obligations regarding active efforts. Petition at 24; G.J.A., 197 Wn.2d at 906; A.L.K., 196 Wn.2d at 696-97.

D.B.-K. fails to demonstrate a basis for review under RAP 13.5(b). Review should be denied.

3. This Court Should Not Accept Review to Reiterate the Proper Application of the Remedy for an Improper Removal

D.B.-K. here argues, contrary to ICWA, WICWA, and this Court's decisions in *J.M.W.* and *A.L.K.*, that when DCYF fails to make active efforts, the juvenile court must decline jurisdiction over the petition. Petition at 28-30. But she misreads critical language in ICWA and WICWA. Both Acts provide that when a petitioner

has improperly removed the child from custody of the parent . . . the court shall decline jurisdiction over such petition and shall forthwith return the child to his parent . . . *unless* returning the child to his parent . . . would subject the child to a substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger.

25 U.S.C. § 1920 (emphasis added); *see* RCW 13.38.160; *Guidelines*, at 74 (providing that when a child has been improperly maintained in out-of-home care, "the court should return the child to his/her parent . . . unless returning the child to his/her parent . . . would subject the child to a substantial and

immediate danger or threat of such danger."). This Court has addressed this remedy. *See J.M.W.*, 199 Wn.2d at 849; *A.L.K.*, 196 Wn.2d at 704 ("Under [RCW 13.38.160], the remedy is to remand to the trial court to immediately return [the children] to their mother if it cannot make the statutorily required finding that returning them would subject them to 'a substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger.").

No Washington court, examining the same statutory language, has held that a juvenile court must decline jurisdiction over a dependency when the Department improperly removes a child. Rather, the Acts require that a court first determine whether returning the children to their parents would subject them to substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger before it may decline jurisdiction over the proceedings. *See* 25 U.S.C. § 1920; *see* RCW 13.38.160.

If this Court were to determine that DCYF did not make active efforts or that DCYF was required, but failed, to show that the parents' continued custody is likely to result in serious

emotional or physical damage to the child, the appropriate remedy would be remand to the juvenile court to immediately return the children to their parents' care unless returning them would subject them to substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger—not to decline jurisdiction over the dependency petitions. The remedy is well-settled by ICWA, WICWA, and this Court. Here, however, all proceedings have been dismissed and there is no remedy available to D.B.-K.

Nor does D.B.-K. demonstrate that the court incorrectly applied the improper removal remedy in this case. Here, in the March 30 order, the court already found by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that D.B.-K.'s continued custody would subject X.M.J. to substantial and immediate danger or threat of such danger. CP 125. The Court of Appeals Commissioner correctly determined that because the remedy for any lack of active efforts had effectively been applied, there is no need for discretionary review. Ruling at 17.

D.B.-K. argues that the improper removal standard cannot be relied upon unless there has already been an improper removal. Petition at 25-26. To the contrary, RCW 13.38.160 ensures that no child will be returned to a situation where that child would face danger. D.B.-K.'s interpretation would require that courts return children to dangerous homes. It would take away one of the tools provided to juvenile courts by the Legislature to keep Native children safe. Allowing courts to use the improper removal remedy in this way balances multiple important goals, including but not limited to the safety of the Native child. See RCW 13.38.030; RCW 13.38.040(2) (defining "best interests of the Indian child"). Moreover, there is no statutory or caselaw support for D.B.-K.'s contention.

D.B.-K. fails to demonstrate a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.5(b). She fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals erred in denying review of the ICWA and WICWA issues due to mootness. Additionally, any error does not render further proceedings useless or substantially alter the

status quo or limit the freedom of the party to act given that the dependency proceedings below were dismissed nearly two years ago. RAP 13.5(b)(1). Review of this moot case is not warranted here.

C. This Court Should Decline Review of the Health and Safety Issue to Avoid Rendering an Advisory Opinion Under a Prior Statutory Scheme

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